RECEIVED 07-29-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 13-1166-CR

MARK K. SCHRICK,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL OF JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND JURY TRIAL VERDICT, BOTH ENTERED IN THE JACKSON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD ZIEGLER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLE DANIEL RUBY Attorney at Law State Bar #1064819

Martinez & Ruby, LLP 144 4th Ave, Suite 2 Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-2000

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENY THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNT 2 WHEN THE JURY WAS NOT PRESENTED WITH COMPETENT, RELIABLE EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT'S BLOOD ALCOHOL CONCENTRATION?

The trial court answered: No.

2. DID THE TRIAL **COURT ERR** BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY \mathbf{ON} THE **STATUTORY PRESUMPTION** OF RELIABILITY FOR THE BREATH TEST WHEN THE OFFICER WHO ADMINISTERED THE TEST COMMITTED **NUMEROUS**

ERRORS IN THE TESTING PROCESS?

The trial court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant anticipates that the issues raised in this appeal can be fully addressed by the briefs. Accordingly, appellant is not requesting oral argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Since this appeal is being decided by one judge, it will not be eligible for publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal raises two interrelated questions regarding the remedies available when an officer fails to comply with statutorily mandated procedures for a valid test of a driver's breath for determining blood alcohol concentration. Based on the officer's noncompliance with appropriate testing procedures, the defense moved for a directed verdict on the prohibited alcohol concentration charge because the jury instruction requires evidence that the testing device was "correctly operated by a qualified person," and also objected to the jury instruction regarding the statutory presumptions of scientific reliability of the test result. The trial court overruled both requests, and the appellant asserts those requests were improperly denied.

The criminal complaint charged Mark Schrick with operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated (3th offense), in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration 0.08 or more (3th offense), in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b), for an incident occurring on October 10, 2010, in the town of Adams (3: 1-4). The defense moved to suppress, alleging Jackson County Sheriff's Deputy Karie Gillett lacked probable cause to arrest (10: 1-2). After holding an evidentiary hearing on November 23, 2011, the court found sufficient evidence for probable cause to arrest, and the case

proceeded to trial (21: 51).¹

Deputy Gillett was only witness called to testify by the State at trial. Gillett testified that at 12:30 am on October 10, 2010, she was operating her patrol vehicle and observed an oncoming vehicle traveling 65 mph in a 55 mph zone (22: 79-80). After turning around to follow the vehicle, Gillett observed the vehicle's side tires driving on the solid yellow line (22: 80). Eventually Gillett activated her emergency lights and executed a traffic stop (22: 81). Gillett identified Mark Schrick as the driver of the vehicle (22: 81-82).

In speaking with Schrick, Gillett observed an odor of intoxicants, and noticed that his eyes were red and glossy (22: 82). Schrick also admitted he had consumed a couple drinks (22: 82). Gillett asked Schrick to step out of the vehicle to perform field sobriety tests (22: 83). After having Schrick perform the horizontal gaze nystagmus (HGN) test, the walk and turn test, the alphabet test, and a counting test, Gillett believed that Schrick was under the influence of an intoxicant and decided to place him under arrest² (22: 84-93). Deputy Gillett transported Schrick to the sheriff's department to obtain an evidentiary chemical test of his breath (22: 95). Schrick consented to the test (22: 95-96).

Gillett testified that she was trained to operate the Intox EC/IR II Breathalyzer machine used by the sheriff's department, and that the machine was in proper working order on October 10, 2010 (22: 101). The State had previously offered copies of certified maintenance records for the Intox EC/IR II machine to show the machine was in proper working order, and those records were received by the court (22: 77-78). When asked if she was an expert on of how the Intoxilyzer machine measures the alcohol content in someone's breath, Gillett indicated she was not (22: 101-02).

Deputy Gillett testified that before administering the

² Since the jury acquitted Schrick of operating while under the influence of an intoxicant (count 1) but convicted on the prohibited alcohol concentration charge (count 2), the appellant will only briefly summarize the evidence on count 1 and focus on the evidence relevant to the issues on appeal.

¹ The suppression ruling is not being contested on appeal.

breath test, Gillett observed Schrick for 20 minutes, during which Schrick did not smoke, drink, or vomit (22: 103-04). Further, she did not observe anything that suggested Schrick regurgitated during that 20 minute period (22: 104).

However, Gillett also admitted she was not watching Schrick for the entire 20 minutes, but was instead performing other tasks, including reading Schrick the "Informing the Accused" form and performing data entry (22: 104). Specifically, Gillett testified that her data entry consisted of using a machine with a keyboard and "transferring the information about Mr. Schrick, the date and time, and the citation," (22: 104). Gillett stated she subsequently verified all the information that she entered and then continued her observation period "if it is not complete," (22: 105). According to Gillett, Schrick did not have anything in his mouth during that observation period (22: 106-07). During that observation period, Gillett was 4-5 feet from Schrick (22: 107).

Regarding mouth alcohol, Gillett testified that the two breath samples must be "fairly close" in terms of alcohol concentration, and that she was trained that this was a "safeguard against mouth alcohol" (22: 109). Gillett also testified that the machine alerts her when it detects mouth alcohol, and it did not do so in this case (22: 109). The deputy did not observe anything about the test that would lead her to conclude the result was not accurate (22: 109). The result of Schrick's breath sample was reported as 0.17 grams of alcohol per 210 liters of blood (22: 110). As a result, Gillett cited Schrick for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration (22: 110).

On cross exam, Gillett admitted she read the Informing the Accused form to Schrick during the observation period (22: 152). Gillett testified that she was trained to use the protocol of the Wisconsin Department of Transportation regarding the administration of the Intoximeter (22: 154-55). Gillett agreed that the TRANS regulation requires that the test operator observe the test subject for 20 minutes for the purpose of eliminating the possibility of residual mouth alcohol (22: 155-56).

Gillett also testified she was trained to remove foreign objects from a subject's mouth before the test to prevent the possibility of residual mouth alcohol affecting the test (22: 156). Gillett agreed that dentures were considered a foreign object (22: 157). Although Gillett believed there was nothing in Schrick's mouth prior to the test, she did not recall looking in his mouth and did not document anything about it in her report (22: 157).

Gillett acknowledged that the manual for breath testing procedure says the test administrator must be "close and attentive" during the 20 minute observation period (22: 158). When asked if the manual required that the test administrator read the Informing the Accused form and perform all data entry <u>prior</u> to the 20 minute observation period, Gillett seemed unfamiliar with the procedures from the manual, stating, "I would have to reference it. I have been taught that minimal paper work, minimal paper work data entries is acceptable," (22: 158)

However, Gillett agreed that the purpose of the protocol of entering data and reading the Informing the Accused prior to starting the 20 minute observation period is to give the test subject close attention during that 20 minute period (22: 159-60). When asked if she failed to do that in this case, Gillett testified "I was doing based on my training that I was taught," (22: 160). Further, she acknowledged that if she was trained incorrectly according to the manual, that can be problematic (22: 160).

Defense counsel then had Deputy Gillett review page 7 of the manual, and she agreed that, according to the manual, the purpose of requiring the 20 minute observation period was regarding residual mouth alcohol (22: 160). Gillett was then asked to review Wisconsin Transportation regulation 311.06, which she confirmed required a minimum of 20 minute observation period before obtaining the test sample (22: 160-61). Although Gillett maintained that she did as she was trained in administering the breath test, she admitted that she did not do what was required by the manual (22: 161).

After the State rested, the defense presented testimony from Schrick's ex-girlfriend, Stephanie Heller, and Mark

Schrick regarding his alcohol consumption and timing of his drinks. Heller was present with Schrick for most of the day, and testified that they attended a benefit for a friend with cancer (22: 191). Heller testified they were at that benefit until 5 pm, and then went to a family function, before heading back to the benefit around 9:30 pm (22: 193, 196). Heller testified that Schrick didn't consume any alcohol during that 4-4 ½ hour period (22: 207-08). Further, Heller testified that although Schrick was drinking when they returned to the benefit, he did not appear to have trouble with his balance or fine motor skills (22: 196-98, 206-07).

Schrick testified that earlier in the day, he had "four and probably five" alcoholic drinks at the benefit between noon and 5 pm (22: 221). Schrick confirmed Heller's testimony that he did not consume any alcohol at the family event between 5:30-9:30 pm (22: 225). Schrick admitted to consuming alcohol upon returning to the benefit, specifically 3 or 4 alcoholic beverages over approximately 3 hours (22: 225). Schrick's last drink occurred between 11:30 and midnight (22: 227).

Regarding his dentures, Schrick testified that he wore dentures on both his top and bottom rows of teeth, and demonstrated by removing them to show the jury (22: 219). Schrick testified that the top dentures were a full set, and the bottom wasn't quite full because he had three partial teeth left (22: 219). The dentures helped hold the remaining teeth in place, and although they fit together, pockets remained (22: 219). Schrick used Fixodent dental adhesive to keep the dentures in place (22: 219, 238). However, Schrick testified his dentures would loosen toward the end of the day, resulting in getting "food particles stuck in there," (22: 219).

When asked if he had his dentures in when he blew into the Intoximeter, Schrick stated, "Yes, I did," (22: 230). Schrick did not recall anyone at the jail raising the issue of his dentures prior to the breath test, and concluded that he didn't think anyone asked (22: 230). When asked specifically if Deputy Gillett raised the issue of his dentures, Schrick stated, "Not that I recall, no," (22: 230).

On cross-exam, Schrick testified he was wearing

Fixodent dental adhesive on the night of his arrest, and agreed he could remove his dentures easily (22: 237-38). When asked if he removed his dentures at any point between consuming his last drink and taking the breath test, Schrick stated, "not that I recall, no," (22: 238). Schrick testified that jail staff made him empty his pockets, but stated, "I don't remember if they looked inside my mouth. I don't remember that," (22: 240).

When asked about the 20 minute observation period, Schrick admitted that he did not vomit, regurgitate, or chew tobacco during that period (22: 240). Schrick also agreed Deputy Gillett was facing him while reading him the Informing the Accused form (22: 241).

The defense also presented expert testimony from Dr. Dennis Fater, a UW-La Crosse professor in physical therapy with a Ph.D. in medical physiology, regarding the absorption and elimination of alcohol (22: 248-49). Fater testified that based on the alcohol consumption history provided and the average elimination rate, all the alcohol Schrick consumed earlier in the day would have been eliminated by 9:30 pm (22: 259-60). Fater further testified that, assuming Schrick had four additional alcoholic beverages between 9:30 pm - 12:30 am, and assuming the standard elimination rate, Schrick would have been left with 17.4 g of alcohol in his system by 12:30 am (22: 260). Fater testified that since Schrick weighed 175 lbs, that amount of alcohol would equate to a blood alcohol concentration of 0.032 (22: 260-61). Assuming the same facts, Fater testified Schrick's BAC at 1:30 am would have been approximately 0.017 (22: 261-62).

Dr. Fater testified that one potential reason for the disparity between his calculations and the Intoxilyzer result could have been residual mouth alcohol (22: 262). Fater testified that having dentures and dental adhesive in during the breath test can elevate mouth alcohol to create an artificially high test result, unrepresentative of the subject's actual blood alcohol concentration (22: 263-64). The test result would be representative of the alcohol content in the subject's mouth rather than in the subject's lungs (22: 264). Dr. Fater agreed that residual mouth alcohol is the main reason why the 20 minute observation period is important

(22: 264-65).

Dr. Fater acknowledged he did not perform a dosing study on Schrick, nor any testing on the Intoxilyzer EC/IR machine used to take Schrick's breath sample (22: 265-66). Fater agreed his information on Schrick's alcohol consumption came from Schrick (22: 267). Further, Fater admitted his belief that residual mouth alcohol caused a result 10 times greater than his estimate was a possibility, but he could not be certain of what happened (22: 271).

At the close of evidence, the defense moved for a directed verdict on the prohibited alcohol concentration charge, arguing that Deputy Gillett admitted she didn't follow the required testing procedures and that Schrick had a foreign object (dentures) in his mouth during the test (23: 289-90). Counsel read into the record the requirements for a proper breath test established by Trans. 311.06 and argued those requirements were not followed (23: 290). Counsel argued that count 2 must be dismissed because the jury instructions regarding the use of the test required that the testing device was "correctly operated by the qualified person," and that the uncontroverted evidence showed the test was not correctly operated, even when viewed in a light most favorable to the State (23: 290-91).

The State responded that the defense could argue the identified procedural complaints to the jury, and that taking the issue away from the jury would deprive the State of its right to a jury trial (23: 292-93). The State asserted that Gillett established the testing machine was working and "did what she was supposed to do in order to operate the test" (23: 292). The State argued Gillett complied with the 20 minute observation because she was sitting 4-5 feet away from Schrick and was "still in a position to observe" Schrick as required by the statutes, and because Schrick testified he did not eat, smoke, vomit or regurgitate during that period (23: 292-93).

The court assessed the evidence, noting that Gillett testified she performed the 20 minute observation period, but that she was reading the informing the accused and entering data into the Intoximeter during that 20 minute period (23:

295). The court acknowledged the transportation code's language requiring the reading of the informing the accused form to occur before the 20 minute observation period (23: 295-96). The court determined that based on the testimony of Deputy Gillett and Schrick regarding the underlying circumstances, it was a jury issue as to whether the Deputy complied with the 20 minute observation period (23: 296).

The court then inquired whether there was any caselaw on dentures as a "foreign body," (23: 296). The defense noted that Deputy Gillett acknowledged in her testimony that dentures were a foreign body and she was supposed to eliminate foreign bodies before testing, but that wasn't done in this case (23: 296-97). However, the court noted that the jury doesn't have to agree with what Deputy Gillett stated, and that it was ultimately an issue for the jury to decide, and therefore denied the defendant's motion (23: 298-99).

Defense counsel subsequently objected to the court giving the jury instruction regarding prohibitive alcohol concentration (23: 300). Over counsel's objection, the court read to the jury the instruction regarding a prohibited alcohol concentration, which incorporated the statutory presumptions language from sec. 885.235 (23: 304).

In summation, the defense argued the breath test result was unreliable because Gillett admitted she didn't observe Schrick properly, and that although Gillett was trained to eliminate foreign bodies from the mouth, she didn't eliminate Schrick's dentures (23: 331). The defense read aloud the portion of the jury instruction regarding the requirement that the testing device being in proper working order and being correctly operated by a qualified person, and asked the jury to find Schrick not guilty on count 2 (23: 333).

The jury found Schrick not guilty on count 1 (operating while intoxicated) and guilty on count 2 (operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration) (23: 345). The jury specifically found Schrick had an alcohol concentration of 0.17 or above (23: 346). The defense moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on count 2 based on the officer's noncompliance with proper testing procedure, and the court denied the motion (23: 349-50).

Sentencing occurred on November 16, 2012, and based on the stipulation of the parties, the court sentenced Schrick to 45 days jail, a \$1,424 fine and a 24 month license revocation (24: 9-10). Schrick filed a timely notice of intent to seek post-conviction relief (19) and a timely notice of appeal (20). Schrick appeals from the jury's verdict and from the judgment of conviction entered on count 2.

Additional facts will be provided where needed.

ARGUMENT

I. SINCE THE JURY WAS NOT PRESENTED WITH COMPETENT, RELIABLE **EVIDENCE OF** THE **DEFENDANT'S** BLOOD ALCOHOL CONCENTRATION. **TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY** THE DENIED THE MOTION FOR A DIRECTED **VERDICT ON COUNT 2**

A. Summary of Arguments and Standard of Review

The results of breath tests are deemed automatically admissible and reliable in OWI prosecutions so long as the State can demonstrate compliance with statutorily mandated In this case, uncontroverted evidence testing protocol. demonstrated the officer failed to comply with required procedures, and therefore the test result was not entitled to the statutory presumptions. Since no test results were presented to the jury from a testing process that complied with the statutory requirements, and no expert testimony was presented by the State to show the probative value of the test despite non-compliance with necessary procedures, the defense moved to dismiss the PAC charge on the grounds of insufficient evidence. The trial court denied the defendant's motion and submitted the case to the jury. The defense submits this decision was erroneous, and the PAC conviction should be vacated and dismissed based on insufficient evidence.

The supreme court in *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990), discussed the difference between a jury's obligation to acquit unless the State has proven a defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, and our standard for reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a jury's verdict of guilty:

"The test is not whether this court or any of the members thereof are convinced [of the defendant's guilt] beyond reasonable doubt, but whether this court can conclude the trier of facts could, acting reasonably, be so convinced by evidence it had a right to believe and accept as true.... The credibility of the witnesses and the weight of the evidence is for the trier of fact. In reviewing the evidence to challenge a finding of fact, we view the evidence in the light most favorable to the finding. Reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence can support a finding of fact and, if more than one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence, the inference which supports the finding is the one that must be adopted...."

Id. at 503-04. However, whether the evidence viewed most favorably to the verdict satisfies the legal elements of the crime constitutes a question of law, which the court of appeals reviews *de novo*. *See State v. Cavallari*, 214 Wis. 2d 42, 47, 571 N.W.2d 176 (Ct. App. 1997).

B. Jury Instructions on the Prohibited Alcohol Concentration Charge Require the State to Prove the Breath Test was Correctly Operated in Order to Use the Test Result as Evidence

To convict Schrick of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, the State was required to prove two elements beyond a reasonable doubt – (1) Schrick operated a motor vehicle on a highway, and (2) Schrick had a prohibited alcohol concentration at the time he operated a motor vehicle. Wis. Stat. sec. 346.63(1)(b). Regarding the prohibited alcohol concentration element, the jury instruction states, "Prohibited alcohol concentration means .08 grams or more of alcohol in 210 liters of the person's breath." Wis-JI Criminal 2669.

The only evidence presented by the State to establish Schrick's blood alcohol level was above 0.08g/ml at the time of driving was Deputy Gillett's testimony regarding the Intoxilyzer breath samples she obtained from Schrick, as well as the Intoxilyzer test record. Therefore, the PAC conviction rises and falls on whether that test, as administered by Deputy Gillett, had sufficient probative value upon which the jury could rely.

Significantly, the State did not present any expert testimony regarding the Intoxilyzer test procedure or result, instead relying upon the statutory presumptions of admissibility and reliability. Wisconsin law provides that such test results are automatically admissible and to be considered reliable assuming compliance with appropriate testing procedures. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. sec. 343.305(5)(d), "At the trial of any civil or criminal action or proceeding arising out of the acts committed by a person alleged to have been driving or operating a motor vehicle while...having a prohibited alcohol concentration...the results of a test administered in accordance with this section are admissible on ... any issue relating to the person's alcohol concentration. Test results shall be given the effect required under s. 885.235."

Wis. Stat. sec. 885.235(1g) provides that "In any action or proceeding in which it is material to prove that a person ... had a prohibited alcohol concentration ... while operating or driving a motor vehicle ... evidence of the amount of alcohol in the person's blood at the time in question, as shown by chemical analysis of a sample of the person's blood or urine or evidence of the amount of alcohol in the person's breath, is admissible on the issue of whether he or she was under the influence of an intoxicant or had a prohibited alcohol concentration or a specified alcohol concentration if the sample was taken within 3 hours after the event to be proved. The chemical analysis shall be given effect as follows without requiring any expert testimony as to its effect."

The jury instructions defining "prohibited alcohol concentration" incorporate the statutory presumptions by

informing the jury as follows:

The law states that the alcohol concentration in the defendant's breath sample taken within three hours of operating a motor vehicle is evidence of the defendant's alcohol concentration at the time of the operating. The law recognizes that the testing device used in this case is a scientifically sound method of measuring the alcohol concentration of an individual. The state is not required to prove the underlying scientific reliability of the method used by the testing device.

Wis-JI Criminal 2669; (23: 304).

However, if the State is relying upon the statutory presumptions for use of the breath test result, the jury instruction imposes one additional requirement upon the State, specifically that "the state is required to establish that the testing device was in proper working order and that it was correctly operated by a qualified person," Wis-JI Criminal 2669; (23: 304) (emphasis added).

The defendant's motion for a directed verdict was based on this requirement, as the uncontroverted testimony demonstrated Deputy Gillett did not correctly operate the testing device by following mandatory procedures.

C. Deputy Gillett Failed to Correctly Administer the Intoxilyzer Test, and Therefore the State Was Not Entitled to Rely on the Statutory Presumptions of Admissibility and Reliability

The statutory presumption of admissibility afforded by sec. 885.235 can be lost based on non-compliance with proper testing procedures. See State v. Zielke, 137 Wis. 2d 39, 403 N.W.2d 427 (1987). The Wisconsin Supreme Court ruled in Zielke that "noncompliance with the procedures set forth in [WIS. STAT. § 343.305] does not render chemical test evidence otherwise constitutionally obtained inadmissible at the trial of a substantive offense involving intoxicated use of a vehicle," but the State "loses its right to rely on the automatic admissibility provisions of the law." Id., 137 Wis. 2d at 41, 49. See also County of Dane v. Winsand, 2004 WI

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