RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-16-2013

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 13-AP-1166-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARK K. SCHRICK,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND JURY TRIAL VERDICT, BOTH ENTERED IN THE JACKSON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD ZIEGLER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

GERALD R. FOX State Bar No. 1022389 District Attorney 307 Main Street Black River Falls, WI 54615

Tel: (715) 284-0242 Fax: (715) 284-7600 gerald.fox@da.wi.gov

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT ON COUNT 2, THE PAC CHARGE, AS THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SEND THAT COUNT TO THE JURY

I. APPLICABLE LEGAL PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW.

A. The defendant's "motion for directed verdict" is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court judge.

A directed verdict of acquittal at the close of the state's case-in-chief is in reality a dismissal on the merits, based upon a judicial finding that the evidence as to that charge is so lacking that no rational jury could convict. *See generally,* State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d at 503, and State v. Cavallari, 214 Wis. 2d at 47. Stated another way, in order to allow the charge to go to the jury, the trial court must find that the trier of fact could

accept the evidence as proof of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307 (1979). Because such a dismissal deprives the state of a jury trial on that charge, the trial court must exercise its discretion with great care, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, *Id*.

The trial court has broad discretion to determine whether the state has made a prima facie case, that is, that the state has produced enough evidence to allow the jury to decide the ultimate question, and this court will not disturb the trial court's findings of fact unless those findings are clearly erroneous. The state concedes however, that the question whether the evidence, when viewed most favorably to the verdict, satisfies the elements of the crime is a question of law which this Court reviews de novo, *Cavallari*, at 47.

B. The question whether the state has shown that the intoxilyzer was properly operated is a factual determination for the jury to decide.

Fact-finding is the bedrock purpose of a jury trial. Indeed, every criminal jury is instructed that they are the sole judges of the facts, including the credibility, that is, the believeability, of the witnesses, and the court is the judge of the law only (Jury Instruction Nos. 100 and 300). Moreover, as much as the Rules of Evidence and the other protections afforded to defendants may frustrate the fact-finding process, the jury is instructed that they are not to search

for doubt, they are to search for the truth (Jury Instruction No. 140). Unless it can be shown that the jury lacks the collective qualification to decide a factual propositon, such as the predicate question whether a machine was operated properly, or the legislature has committed such a factual determination to the court alone, then the question is committed to the jury as part of their fact-finding role.

C. The jury instructions are to be reviewed as a whole.

When asked to determine the propriety of a given jury instruction, the reviewing court must review the instructions as a whole, in order to assess the effect on the jury of the questioned instruction in light of all of the other instructions given to the jury, State v. Hemphill, 2006 WI App 185, 296 Wis. 2d 198, (citation omitted). A challenge to an allegedly erroneous jury instruction warrants reversal and a new trial only if the error [is] prejudicial." Fischer v. Ganju, 168 Wis. 2d 834, 849, (1992). "An error is prejudicial if it probably and not merely possibly misled the jury." *Id.* at 850. This court reviews the appropriateness of a jury instruction under the facts of a given case *de novo*. *See* Hemphill, 296 Wis. 2d 198, ¶8.

D. The propriety of instructing the jury on the statutory presumption relies on a preliminary assessment of the quality of the evidence supporting the use of the breath test machine.

As discussed above, the trial court has broad latitude to give or modify a jury instruction. An essential part of that process is viewing the evidence, in the light most favorable to the proponent of the instruction, to determine whether it is supported by some evidence, <u>Hemphill</u>, 296 Wis. 2d at paragraph 8, citing <u>State v. Coleman</u>, 206 Wis. 2d 199 at 212-213 (1996).

II. APPLICATION OF LEGAL PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

A. The jury heard sufficient evidence to find that Deputy Gillett operated the intoxilyzer breath test machine correctly.

Mr. Schrick was before the jury on two charges: Operating While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant, contrary to Section 346.63(1)(a) Stats, (OWI) and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration, contrary to Section 346.63(1)(b) Stats, (PAC). Prior to the hearing on the motion for directed verdict and the jury instruction conference (page 284 et seq. of the trial transcript, attached at Respondent's Appendix), the jury heard evidence that Deputy Gillett, while sitting with Mr. Schrick during the 20-minute

observation period, wrote his OWI citation and completed some other arrest-related tasks. The defense used this evidence to attack the deputy's compliance with the operating instructions for the machine.

On redirect, the state, starting at Page 172 of the trial record, adduced more testimony from Deputy Gillett about the circumstances surrounding her observation of the defendant during the 20-minute observation period. That evidence included her close proximity to Mr. Schrick throughout the process (4-5 feet away), which related directly to her ability to see, hear, and smell him during that time.

Therefore, prior to deciding on the jury instruction at issue, both the court and the jury had heard sufficient evidence from which to determine whether the issues raised by the defense actually amounted to a failure to operate the machine correctly. Put another way, the court first had to determine if there was some evidence to show that the machine was operated properly, and then to decide if the defense had so totally countered that evidence, when viewed most favorably to the state, with contrary evidence that no rational jury could rely upon the result to convict.

The court then went on to conduct a hearing on the motion for "directed verdict" and the ensuing jury instruction conference, all starting at Page 284 of the trial record. The court was careful to observe that the predicate question vis-à-vis the presumption of accuracy instruction, was a question for the jury, Trial Pages 296-298, and stated its rationale succinctly. During this debate, Mr. Schrick's counsel did not contest, and thus, essentially conceded, that there was no specific definition for the word "observe" in the TRANS Code, or anywhere else (Trial, Page 293-94), such that its ordinary and common meaning would control.

B. The jury was informed repeatedly (orally by the court, by the state, by defense counsel, and in a set of written instructions), that they were the sole judges of the facts.

Mr. Schrick wants this Court to jump from the deputy's candid acknowledgement that she read the Informing the Accused form, and performed other arrest-related tasks, during the 20-minute observation period, (instead of simply staring intently at Mr. Schrick for the entire 20 minutes) to a finding that the machine was not operated properly, thus the results were legally inadmissible without expert testimony, and thus, the jury had no competent evidence upon which to rely in order to convict on Count 2, the PAC charge.

That argument ignores the jury's role in a PAC case. They are the sole "deciders" on the question whether the state had shown that the breath test machine was operated properly. Certainly the state bears the risk that without expert testimony, they will find to the contrary, and thus acquit on the PAC charge, but the defendant does not get to short-circuit that process.

Nor was any special expertise required for the jury to decide that question. As posited by the state (at Trial Page 293) a mother reading a book is still perceived by the community as "observing" her child at the playground, so long as she is attentive enough to react timely to an event affecting the child. Given her close proximity to and constant presence with Mr. Schrick, the jury could easily find that while she had her head turned to enter his driver license data into the machine, she would still be in position to readily detect if he ate, drank, smoked, vomited, or did anything else that would affect the accuracy of the test results.

Crucially, there was no evidence offered by the defendant that he did any of the four things meant to be detected by the 20-minute observation period, either (Trial, Page 293-94). So, it stands to reason that the jury, having heard all of this evidence, and being instructed by the trial court and addressed by both lawyers, could rationally conclude that although Deputy Gillett completed a citation and entered Mr. Schrick's data into the breath test machine, she was

nevertheless "observing" him continually for the required 20-minute period, and that was their sole judgment to make.

C. The jury is presumed to have known that they could find that the state had not met its burden as to the breath test results; thus, their verdict attests that they resolved that question in favor of the state.

The jury instructions, taken as a whole, properly inform the jury that they are to decide the OWI and PAC questions separately, that is, they must return a verdict on both charges, and decide each separately (Jury Instruction 2669, Trial Pages 301-05). Especially in light of their acquittal of Mr. Schrick on the OWI charge, it should be obvious that they did so. Giving each word in the jury instruction its ordinary and common meaning, the jury knew they were free to acquit on the PAC charge if they were not convinced that the deputy complied with the 20-minute observation period, even if they had been convinced of Mr. Schrick's guilt on the OWI, and vice versa.

D. The jury's verdict on the PAC charge is amply supported by evidence in the record, and therefore, should be upheld.

The jury heard the evidence supporting the stop, and about the defendant's bloodshot eyes, alcohol consumption, failure on the alphabet test, and all of the other facts and circumstances that were admisible at trial. They were essentially asked to nullify the PAC

charge on the basis of "fairness" which term, or a variation thereof, was invoked frequently by defense counsel in his closing (Trial Pages 323, 326, 329, 330, 331, & 332) based in part on a claim that the machine was not operated properly. They declined, instead finding the defendant guilty.

That was their role, and their duty, and there was plenty of evidence in the record to support their verdict, both as to the predicate question of the machine's reliability, and the ultimate question of prohibited alcohol concentration.

The upshot of all of this is that no one should invade the jury's lawful province as sole judges of the facts, lest either the state or the defendant be deprived of the right to jury trial. The defendant can point to no mandatory authority for the proposition that the jury is not competent to decide whether the breath test machine was operated correctly, and therefore, this Court should respect their judgment, and that of the trial court, and uphold the verdict.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Schrick's challenge to the PAC conviction is that the jury should never have had the power to determine whether Deputy

Gillett operated the breath test machine correctly, and that the trial

judge should have dismissed that charge at the close of the state's case, and, because he didn't, this Court should do so. For the foregoing reasons, this Court should respect the jury's verdict and affirm the judgment of conviction, in the interest of justice.